A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in allowing the state to amend the 

information at the close of the state's case. 

2. The Second Amended Information was constitutionally 

defective because it omitted the essential element of child molestation in the 

second degree, that the alleged victim was at least twelve years old. 

3. There was insufficient evidence that the alleged crime of 

child molestation in the second degree occurred during the charging period 

set out in the Second Amended Information or that the complaining witness 

was at least twelve years old. 

4. The trial court erred in not allowing counsel for Mr. Goss to 

argue the inference, based on evidence admitted at trial, that he provided a 

statement to the police at the time of his arrest and the prosecution chose not 

to present the statement to the jury because it was not helpful to the state's 

case. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

1. Did the trial court err and deny Mr. Goss his state and federal 

constitutional rights to notice of the charge against him by allowing the state 

to amend the information to enlarge the charging period by an entire year, at 

the close of the evidence and after defense counsel had cross-examined all of 

the witnesses, where Mr. Goss was prejudiced by the amendment? 



2. Did the state's failure to include an essential element of child 

molestation in the second degree -- that the complaining witness was at least 

twelve years old -- violate Mr. Goss's state and federal constitutional rights 

to due process and notice of the charge against him and require that his 

conviction be reversed and dismissed? 

3. Should Mr. Goss's conviction for child molestation in the 

second degree be reversed and dismissed with prejudice where the state 

failed to present sufficient evidence that the crime occurred during the 

charging period or that the complaining witness was twelve years old to 

establish his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt? 

4. Did the trial court err and deny Mr. Goss his state and federal 

constitutional rights to present a defense, by not permitting him to argue that 

Mr. Goss gave a voluntary interview to the police at the time of his arrest 

and the state did not introduce the statement at trial because it was not 

helpful to the state's case? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural history 

The King County Prosecutor's Office originally charged Michael 

Goss with one count of child molestation in the second degree, alleging 

that "between or about September 25,2011 and September 24,2012, 

being at least 36 months older than ENF (DOB 09/2511998), [Mr. Goss] 
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had sexual contact for the purpose of sexual gratification with ENF (DOB 

09//2511998), who was 13 years old and [he] was not married to and not in 

a state of registered domestic partnership with ENF (DOB 09/2511998)." 

CP 1-5. The prosecution amended the information on the day of trial to 

include a second count, attempted child molestation in the third degree. 

CP 32-33. 

Over defense objection, the trial court, the Honorable Laura 

Inveen, permitted the state to file a Second Amended Information at the 

close of the state's case, shortly before the state rested. RP 657-662, 676. 1 

The Second Amended Information alleged that Mr. Goss "during an 

intervening period of time between September 25,2010 and September 

25,2012, being a least 36 months older than ENF (DOB 9/25/98), had 

sexual contact for the purpose of sexual gratification with ENF (DOB 

9.25.1998), who was less than 14 years old and [he] was not married to 

and not in a state registered domestic partnership with ENF (DOB 

9.25.98)." CP 67-68. 

The jury convicted Mr. Goss of the second degree child 

molestation charge and acquitted him of the attempted molestation charge. 

CP 92-93, 94. 

1 The verbatim report of proceedings is in five consecutively-numbered 
volumes,and are cited in this brief as RP 
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At sentencing, Judge Inveen denied the defense Motion for 

Arrest of Judgment and imposed a sentence within the standard range. RP 

766; CP 132-142. Mr. Goss timely appealed the conviction. CP 130-131, 

147. 

2. Trial testimony 

Defense counsel began his opening statement: 

I'm going to start by talking about a concern I have about 
this case, and the concern is not what you might think. It is not the 
charge ... And it is [not] the evidence in this case. Frankly, it is 
the evidence which I am looking forward to you hearing - the 
evidence, the lack of evidence, the inconsistency of the evidence .. 
. . My concern is that I know .... you are going to meet ENF ... 
and I know you are going to like her. ... So my concern is that 
because you like her, you are going to overlook all of the 
inconsistencies in her allegations leveled against Mr. Goss. 

RP 243-244. As counsel previewed, the defense case consisted of 

impeaching ENF's allegations through statements she made to her family 

and recorded statements made to the police and during the defense 

interview, and impeaching her credibility through the vagueness of the 

allegations in her trial testimony. 

In June 2013, Michael Goss was engaged to Tammy Cuneo, then 

14-year-old ENF's grandmother. RP 272-273, 464. Mr. Goss and Ms. 

Cuneo had met though the Internet sometime in 2010,2 and Ms. Cuneo 

c When asked on cross-examination if she remembered telling Detective 
Matthews that she met Mr. Goss in March 2010, she responded, "Oh, no, I 
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moved into Mr. Goss's house in Lake Forest Park, Washington to live 

with him a few months later. RP 274-275, 299. ENF visited them 

occasionally from her home in Lake Stevens, Washington which was 

approximately thirty minutes away. RP 277-280; 337. By June 2013, 

ENF visited primarily to work around the house to pay Ms. Cuneo back 

for an airline ticket she purchased for ENF. RP 308-309, 312, 369-371. 

ENF's mother, Shantell Stewart, was one of Ms. Cuneo's four daughters. 

RP 272. Another daughter, Jessica, married Eric Randolph. RP 272, 406; 

347. The Randolphs lived in Las Vegas, Nevada, but visited the family in 

Washington every summer and sometimes on holidays. RP272, 405-409. 

On June 22,2012, the Randolphs were visiting in Washington and 

were part of the group attending an extended-family reunion in Port 

Hadlock, Washington. RP 413. ENF and Ms. Stewart rode with the 

Randolphs to the reunion from Mr. Goss's home in Lake Forest Park. RP 

413. On the way home, the two sisters, Shantell Stewart and Jessica 

Randolph, scolded ENF for being rude and unkind to Mr. Goss. RP 348, 

414, 418-420. They were surprised at her treatment of him since ENF and 

Mr. Goss had always gotten along well with one another. RP 290, 339, 

383. On this day, however, ENF surprised everyone by pointedly telling 

Mr. Goss to stay away from her and leave her alone and telling her mother 

don't think it was March, I think it was more May, maybe." RP 298. 
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to lock their car door so he could not open it. RP 340-342, 414-417. At 

one point she called Mr. Goss "Chester." RP 341, 434. 

Ms. Stewart and Ms. Randolph got out of the car while they were 

waiting to board the ferry to come home. RP 418-419. Mr. Randolph 

stayed behind with ENF, and she told him, when he questioned her, that 

Mr. Goss had touched her breasts under her shirt and bra. 3 RP 349-350, 

420-421,427,473-474. Mr. Randolph had her repeat these allegations to 

his wife Jessica and, when they got home again, to her mother Shantell 

Stewart. RP 354-357, 422, 424-425, 538. Ms. Stewart called the police 

that night. RP 259,359,429. The following day ENF was asked to tell 

her grandmother, Tammy Cuneo. RP 260, 429, 539. Detective 

Matthews of the Lake Forest Park Police Department then interviewed Mr. 

Randolph, Ms. Stewart, Ms. Cuneo, and ENF the following day. RP 605-

612. 

ENF told her family and the officer who first responded to the 911 

call that the touching had occurred 5-7 times during the past year. RP 262, 

2650267, 507. She described in some detail five different incidents to 

them. She told her uncle, according to his recorded statement, that once 

3 Eric Randolph testified that ENT was his shadow when he was in town, 
and they sometimes talked on the phone or exchanged text messages. RP 
411,448. He stated in a recorded interview that in the summer of2013, 
she talked to him about some personal things, but he declined to say what 
those personal things were. RP 448-449. 
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Mr. Goss chased her down the hall into the bedroom where the computer 

was and pinned her down and touched her breasts; at that time he said "Do 

you like these, I like these." RP 439, 441-442. This incident took place in 

August 2012. RP 450-451. A short time later, according to what ENF 

told Mr. Randolph, Mr. Goss was going to molest her, but Mr. Randolph 

was visiting at the time and came down the hall and nothing happened. 

RP 450-451. Another incident allegedly involved Mr. Goss's coming up 

behind her and grabbing her; another incident involved him straddling her. 

RP 442-443. Two of the incidents took place in the computer room. RP 

445. According to ENF's statements to Mr. Randolph, during one or more 

of these incidents, Ms. Cuneo was at work.4 Once, when she was at 

home, Mr. Goss moved quickly and pinned her down in a second 

bedroom. RP 452. In Mr. Randolph's opinion, ENF was never physically 

capable of thwarting an attempt by Mr. Goss to touch her breasts. RP 456. 

ENF told the responding officer, late on the evening after the 911 

call, that Mr. Goss pinned her on the floor on two occasions; the first of 

those occasions time he called her in from another room. RP 267-268. 

The last time anything inappropriate happened was two months earlier in 

4 Tammy Cuneo testified that she did not work weekends, the times when 
ENF visited, and that she did not recall ever going to work and leaving 
ENF with Mr. Goss. RP 277-278, 280-281. She did not recall leaving 
ENF with Mr. Goss at any time. RP 280-281, 316-317, 319. 
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April 2013. RP 267-268. 

By the time ENF talked to Det. Matthews, there were not five to 

seven incidents, but only three - two times where Mr. Goss actually 

touched her breasts and one where she blocked him from touching her. RP 

551, 554. By the time of trial, there were still three incidents, but only one 

actual touching and two attempts. RP 557. 

ENF told Det. Matthews that she decided to tell because her uncle 

was the first person to ask, and that Mr. Randolph specifically asked her if 

Mr. Goss had touched her. RP565-566. 

ENF testified at trial that she was going to be in the loth grade in 

school and that she had lived with her father in California when she was in 

the 7th grade, from January through June or August. RP 458, 461. She 

said that she met Mr. Goss while in the 7th grade, the same year that she 

went to California to live with her father, when she was twelve or even 

eleven years 01d. 5 RP 464, 537. She said she visited her grandmother and 

Mr. Goss on weekends, school breaks and for family events. RP 466. It 

was her trial testimony that the time Mr. Goss touched her breasts under 

her shirt was at his house before she went to live with her dad; she was in 

5 ENF agreed that she told Det. Matthews that she was in California 
during the 2012 school year, but at trial believed it was in 2011. RP 523-
524. Her mother testified that ENF lived with her father when she was in 
the eighth grade in 2012. RP 260. 
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the front room in front of the computer, which had not yet been moved to 

the bedroom, and he called her over to the chair where he was sitting. RP 

476-478,519-520. Her grandmother was at work. RP 520. He grabbed 

her arms, pulled her to him, reached under her shirt, touched her breasts 

for ten to fifteens seconds and said, "I like these, do you like these?" RP 

476-482. The next incident she remembered happened after she returned 

from her father's; she thought it was at Thanksgiving. RP 488-489,557. 

On that occasion, as she related it, Mr. Goss was sleeping in the back 

bedroom and all of her young cousins went back to wake him up. RP 487. 

According to ENF, during this effort to rouse him, Mr. Goss grabbed her, 

threw her on the bed and tried to put his hands under her shirt. RP 488-

490. She held her arms so he couldn't reach under her shirt and started 

screaming. RP 488. She said that when her mother called out to inquire 

about what happened, she told her mother that she was just playing. RP 

493. ENF's mother recalled a time they were at a family barbecue when 

she heard ENF scream from the back room, and Ms. Stewart told her to 

stay in the living room. RP 373. This scream did not make Ms. Stewart 

want to run back to the room, and she could not recall ENF seeming upset 

at the time. RP 387-388. 

The next incident was when ENF was watching television and Mr. 

Goss was in the computer room; Ms. Cuneo was asleep in her bed across 

9 



the hall from the computer room. RP 498, 557. ENF asked Mr. Goss 

what he was doing and he grabbed her arms, pulled her to the floor and 

tried to touch her. RP 499. She was able to lock her arms and prevent 

him from doing so. RP 499. Nothing happened again after this incident. 

RP 503 . 

ENF testified that she told her best friend Breana over the phone 

and by text message both after the first incident, and later and in the 

previous summer. RP 496-497, 527-528, 543. On cross-examination, 

ENF agreed that in her interview with Det. Matthews on June 24, 2013, 

she said she had never told anyone before telling her uncle. RP 538, 539, 

54-542. Breana Hoke testified that ENF sent her one text message in the 

summer of2013, probably July, about the allegations, and Breana advised 

her to tell someone if it was serious. RP 642-644. Breana never spoke 

with ENF on the phone about this and never spoke to her earlier. RP 644. 

She would have remembered. RP 650. 

When the prosecutor specifically inquired about the chronology of 

the allegations ENF was unable to testify about how old she was at the 

time. 

Q. There were a lot of questions about the timing of 
when these things happened, chronologically; you 
talked about whether you told Detective Matthews 
that the first incident happened around your 
birthday? 
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RP 591. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Is that still accurate? Do you remember it still 
being around your birthday? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you remember at all which birthday it was or 
how old you were turning? 

A. No. 

Q. And your birthday is in September; is that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Earlier ENF had testified that she did not know if the first incident, 

the only incident in which there was actual touching, was before or after 

her birthday. RP 559-560. 

3. Mr. Goss's voluntary statement 

Prior to trial, the state told the court that it would not be offering 

Mr. Goss's custodial statement. RP 15. Defense counsel stipulated to the 

voluntariness of the statement, but indicated that if the statement were 

played to the jury, it should be redacted to exclude irrelevant portions. RP 

15. The court indicated that they would wait to see if the statement was 

offered for impeachment. RP 16. 

During the cross examination of Det. Matthews, defense counsel 

elicited that he read Mr. Goss his rights at the time of his arrest and made 
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sure that Mr. Goss understood them. RP 632-633. Counsel then elicited 

that the detective "proceeded to take a 50-minute recorded statement about 

these allegations from Mr. Goss." RP 633. The court overruled the 

prosecutor's objection "to this line of questioning." RP 633. 

The court, however, granted the state's motion to preclude the 

defense from arguing that "there is this interview for 50 minutes with Mr. 

Goss and that wasn't brought [into evidence] by the State." RP 671-672. 

The court rejected defense counsel's position that the state did not play the 

tape because it was not helpful to them. RP 671-672. The court ruled that 

"it would be improper to argue that the State should have played that tape 

because it is hearsay." RP 672. The court rejected defense counsel's 

argument that the fact that the statement was taken was evidence at trial. 

RP 673. 

4. Second amended information 

The state was permitted to amend the information, over defense 

objection, because ENF testified that the incident happened when she was 

in the seventh grade - "that would have been after her 12th birthday. .. so 

that does affect my alleged charging period for the first incident. . .. it 

would still be child molestation, second-degree, is [sic] alleged currently it 

is that she was 13 years old and now there is evidence to suggest that she 

could have been 12." RP 657. 
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The prosecutor explained, "I would not be changing the charge, but 

I do believe I need to accurately reflect what has come out in the 

testimony as well." RP 657. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE 
STATE TO AMEND THE INFORMATION 
CHARGING MR. GOSS WITH SECOND DEGREE 
CHILD MOLESTATION AT THE CLOSE OF THE 
STATE'S CASE. 

At the close of the evidence and shortly before the prosecution 

rested its case, the trial court allowed the state to amend the information 

on the second degree child molestation charge to enlarge the charging 

period. The court found that the amendment was not prejudicial to Mr. 

Goss. RP 657-662. This was error because Mr. Goss was unfairly 

prejudiced by the amendment. The one-year enlargement of the charging 

period was significant; it doubled the original charging period. And, as set 

out by defense counsel in opening statement, the defense case was 

presented entirely through the cross-examination of the state's witnesses. 

This cross-examination was complete before the charge was amended. 

A defendant has a state and federal constitutional right to be 

notified of the nature of the charges against him, in Washington through 

the state's filing of an information. Sixth Amendment, U.S. Const.; Wash. 

Const. article I, section 22, amend. 10. This right has also been deemed 
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to be "part and parcel" of the right to due process under Const. article I, 

section 3 and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution. State v. Sullivan, 143 Wn.2d 162, 19 P.3d 1012 (2001). 

Therefore, by court rule, a trial court may permit the state to amend the 

original information before the verdict or finding of guilt, only if the 

defendant's substantial rights are not prejudiced. CrR 2.1 (d). Moreover, 

the Washington Supreme Court has limited CrR 2.1 (d); amending the 

information to charge a new crime after the state rests violates the 

accused's rights under article I, section 22. State v. Pelkey, 109 Wn.2d 

484, 487, 745 P .2d 854 (1987), 

As a general rule, however, amending the information to change the 

charging period is permitted during trial unless changing the dates 

compromIses an alibi defense or the defendant demonstrates specific 

prejudice. State v. DeBolt, 61 Wn. App. 58, 61-63, 808 P.2d 794 (1991); 

State v. Fischer, 40 Wn.App. 506, 510-511, 699 P.2d 249 (1985). The 

defendant bears the burden of showing prejudice. State v. Gosser, 33 Wn. 

App 428, 435, 656 P.2d 514 (1982). Appellate courts review a trial court's 

ruling on a motion to amend an information for abuse of discretion. State 

v. James. 108 Wn.2d 483, 490,739 P.2d 699 (1987). 

Here, Mr. Goss meets his burden of showing prejudice because of 

the substantial enlargement of the charging period and because his defense 
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was conducted entirely through the cross-examination that took place prior 

to the amendment. Because the court erred in allowing the state to amend 

the information to enlarge the charging period and significantly change the 

factual nature of the allegations, Mr. Goss' s conviction for second degree 

child molestation should be reversed. 

2. MR. GOSS'S CONVICTION SHOULD BE 
REVERSED AND DIMSSED BECAUSE THE 
SECOND AMENDED INFORMATION FAILED TO 
INCLUDE ALL OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS 
OF SECOND DEGREE CHILD MOLESTATION. 

Even if the trial court properly allowed the state to amend the 

information at the close of its case, however, Mr. Goss's conviction should 

still be reversed and dismissed. The Second Amended Information, which 

the state was permitted to file, lacked one of the essential elements of the 

crime of second degree child molestation, that ENF was at least 12 years 

old at the time of the crime. 

The trial court allowed the prosecutor to amend the information to 

enlarge the charging period to reflect ENF's testimony that the incident on 

which the charge was based could have taken place much earlier than the 

then-applicable charging period. RP 657. In amending the information, 

however, the state alleged only that ENF was less than fourteen years old 

at the time of the crime; it did not allege that she was at least twelve years 

old. CP 67-68. Since being at least twelve, as well as being under the age 
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of fourteen, is an element of the crime, the Second Amended Information 

failed to allege all of the essential elements of second degree child

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