72409-6

72409-6  
FILED  
X April 8, 2015  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington

NO. 72409-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL RAY GOSS,

Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE LAURA INVEEN

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG  
King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE  
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney  
W554 King County Courthouse  
516 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, Washington 98104  
(206) 477-9497

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

**C. ARGUMENT**

**1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN PERMITTING THE SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE INFORMATION.**

Goss claims that the trial court abused its discretion in permitting the State to amend the information after the testimony of the victim and her mother. This argument should be rejected. In the trial court, Goss did not claim that the amendment prejudiced him in any way. RP 662-63. Goss has not established that the trial court abused its discretion when it allowed the amendment.

Under the criminal rules, the trial court may allow the State to amend the information at any time before the verdict as long as the "substantial rights of the defendant are not prejudiced."<sup>5</sup> CrR 2.1(d). A trial court's decision to grant a motion to amend an information is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Schaffer, 120 Wn.2d 616, 621-22, 845 P.2d 281 (1993). The defendant has the burden of showing that the amendment prejudiced his

---

<sup>5</sup> The State's ability to amend is further limited after the State has rested its case. State v. Pelkey, 109 Wn.2d 484, 491, 745 P.2d 854 (1987). The amendment here was before the State rested, so those limitations are inapplicable.

substantial rights. State v. Clark, 170 Wn. App. 166, 194, 283 P.3d 1116 (2012). The defendant must demonstrate “specific prejudice” resulting from the amendment. State v. James, 108 Wn.2d 483, 486, 489, 739 P.2d 699 (1987).

The charging period usually is not a material element of a crime. Clark, 170 Wn. App. at 194. “[A]mendment of the date is a matter of form rather than substance, and should be allowed absent an alibi defense or a showing of other substantial prejudice to the defendant.” Id. (quoting State v. DeBolt, 61 Wn. App. 58, 61-62, 808 P.2d 794 (1991)). There was no alibi defense in this case and Goss did not claim any prejudice when the State moved to amend the information. RP 662-63. Goss’s only objection in the trial court was “for the record”; he did not argue that he was prejudiced in any way. RP 662-63. Because Goss did not identify any potential prejudice, the trial court cannot be found to have abused its discretion in allowing the amendment pursuant to CrR 2.1(d).

Even the claim of prejudice articulated for the first time in this appeal would not be sufficient to establish substantial prejudice if it had been presented in the trial court. On appeal, Goss argues the amendment was prejudicial because his defense was presented entirely via cross-examination, which was complete before the

amendment.<sup>6</sup> This Court in Clark rejected a similar challenge to an amendment to the charging period, where the defendant in the trial court had argued that he was prejudiced because the victim already had testified. 170 Wn. App. at 194. The trial court had allowed the amendment, but stated that if there was an offer of proof as to what the defendant would attempt to elicit that was not done before, the court would allow him to recall the witness. Id. No offer of proof was made, nor was there a request to recall the witness. Id. This Court held that without that proffer or request to recall the witness, the defendant “cannot show substantial prejudice.” Id.

Other cases have held that the failure to request a continuance upon amendment of the charges at the beginning of trial results in a presumption that there was no surprise or prejudice. E.g., State v. Schaffer, 63 Wn. App. 761, 767, 822 P.2d 292 (1991), aff'd, 120 Wn.2d 616 (1993); State v. Wilson, 56 Wn. App. 63, 65, 782 P.2d 224 (1989). The failure to articulate any prejudice here, along with the lack of any request to recall any witness, should result in a similar presumption.

---

<sup>6</sup> Goss also states that the length the charging period was extended shows substantial prejudice but does not explain what that prejudice would be in this case.

Goss did not identify any prejudice to the trial judge and did not ask to recall any witness. He has not identified any cross-examination that would have been affected by the enlargement of the charging period. Even if the vague claim of prejudice first raised on appeal is considered, he has not established that the trial court's ruling was an abuse of discretion.

**2. THE CHARGING LANGUAGE INCLUDED ALL ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME OF CHILD MOLESTATION IN THE SECOND DEGREE.**

For the first time on appeal, Goss asserts that the charging language on the charge of child molestation in the second degree was defective. This claim is meritless. Goss contends that it is an element of the crime that the child molested was over the age of twelve, and the failure to include that allegation requires reversal of this conviction. But that statutory language is not an element of the crime charged. Even if it were an element, the charging language included the victim's date of birth, which established that element, so the charging language was sufficient.

A charging document must include all essential elements of a crime, to apprise the accused of the charges and allow preparation of a defense. State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 101-02,



812 P.2d 86 (1991). When the sufficiency of a charging document is first raised on appeal, it is more liberally construed in favor of validity. Id. at 105. The test is: (1) do the necessary facts appear in any form in the charging document, or can they be found in that document by fair construction; and, if so, (2) can the defendant show that he or she was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful language, which caused a lack of notice. Id. at 105-06.

Child molestation, i.e., sexual contact for purposes of sexual gratification with a minor under 16 years of age, is prohibited in this state. The crime is divided into three degrees, depending on the age of the child.<sup>7</sup> Child molestation in the first degree applies if the child was less than 12 years old at the time of the molestation. RCW 9A.44.083. Child molestation in the second degree applies if the child was at least 12 but less than 14 years old at the time of the molestation. RCW 9A.44.086. Child molestation in the third degree applies if the child was at least 14 but less than 16 years old at the time of the molestation. RCW 9A.44.089.

Count 1 of the second amended information in this case provided:

---

<sup>7</sup> The three statutes are attached as Appendix 1.

That the defendant Michael Ray Goss in King County, Washington, during an intervening period of time between September 25, 2010 and September 25, 2012, being at least 36 months older than ENF (DOB 9/25/98), had sexual contact for the purpose of sexual gratification with ENF (DOB 9/25/98), who was less than 14 years old and was not married to and not in a state registered domestic partnership with ENF (DOB 9/25/98);

Contrary to RCW 9A.44.086 and against the peace and dignity of the State of Washington.

CP 67.

- a. It Is Not An Essential Element Of Child Molestation In The Second Degree That The Child Victim Was At Least 12 Years Old.

Goss argues that a minimum age of 12 is an essential element of child molestation in the second degree because a minimum age is specified in the statute. That argument is without merit. The Supreme Court has held that only statutory language that defines the threshold of crime, its very illegality, comprises an essential element. Courts of Appeal have specifically rejected Goss's argument in the context of the crime of rape of a child, and their analysis should be followed here.

Two Divisions of the Court of Appeals have rejected Goss's argument in the context of rape of a child. State v. Smith, 122 Wn.

App. 294, 93 P.3d 206 (2004)<sup>8</sup>; State v. Dodd, 53 Wn. App. 178, 765 P.2d 1337 (1989). The crime of rape of a child is analytically indistinguishable from child molestation for purposes of this charging issue; it has the same statutory structure as child molestation. Rape of a child (sexual intercourse with a minor) is divided into three degrees, depending on the age of the child:<sup>9</sup> first degree if the child was less than 12 years old at the time of the rape; second degree if the child was at least 12 but less than 14; third degree if the child was at least 14 but less than 16. RCW 9A.44.073, 9A.44.076, 9A.44.079.

In Smith, Division Two held that the three degrees of rape of a child proscribe one crime: rape of a child under 16 years old. 122 Wn. App. at 298. The defendant in that case was charged with child rape in the third degree, which RCW 9A.44.079 defines as applicable when the victim is at least 14. Id. at 296. The child testified that two of the rapes actually occurred when she was only 13 years old. Id. The jury was instructed that rape of a child in the third degree is sexual intercourse with a child who is “at least

---

<sup>8</sup> This citation in WestLaw correctly indicates that in 2005, review was granted in part (at 153 Wn.2d 1017) but shows no further action. A review of the Supreme Court docket indicates that review was dismissed as improvidently granted on May 6, 2005.

<sup>9</sup> The three statutes are attached as Appendix 2.

twelve years old but less than sixteen.” Id. at 297. Division Two held that this instruction did not misstate any essential element of the crime. Id. at 298. The defendant was properly convicted of child rape in the third degree on all three counts, although there was no dispute that as to two counts, the victim was only 13 years old. Id. at 298-99. The court observed that the State had charged the defendant with a lesser offense than was proved, but proof of the greater charge did not require acquittal of the lesser. Id. “That the victim was younger than the age range in the third degree rape of a child statute does not mean that the defendant did not commit the proscribed act of having sexual intercourse with a child.” Id. at 298 (citing Dodd, 53 Wn. App. at 181).

In Dodd, Division One held that the evidence was sufficient to support a conviction of statutory rape (the former title of rape of a child) in the third degree, which former RCW 9A.44.090 defined as applicable when the victim is at least 14, although the victim in that case was 13 years old at the time of the crime. 53 Wn. App. at 180. The court held that statutory rape in the third degree was an inferior degree to statutory rape in the second degree, as they both proscribe just one offense, “sexual intercourse with one too immature to rationally or legally consent.” Id. at 181 (citations

omitted). Its holding established that the defendant was guilty of statutory rape even though the victim was under 14 years old; being 14 or over was not an element of that crime, although it was included in the statutory definition.

An "essential element is one whose specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the behavior." State v. Tinker, 155 Wn.2d 219, 221, 118 P.3d 885 (2005) (quoting State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 143, 147, 829 P.2d 1078 (1992)). In the case of child molestation, the illegality of the behavior is established by the higher age limit applicable to each degree of the crime: with respect to child molestation in the first degree, it is when the child was "less than 12 years old"; with respect to child molestation in the second degree, it is when the child was "less than 14 years old." RCW 9A.44.083, 9A.44.086.

The Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected the claim that simply because language appears in the statutory definition of a crime, that language is an essential element of the crime. State v. Leyda, 157 Wn.2d 335, 138 P.3d 610 (2006); Tinker, 155 Wn.2d at 222-24; State v. Ward, 148 Wn.2d 803, 812-14, 64 P.3d 640 (2003).

In Ward, the court addressed one alternative of the crime of felony violation of a no-contact order, predicated on commission of an assault. That crime is defined in the statutory language as “[a]ny assault that is a violation of an order issued under this chapter ... and that does not amount to assault in the first or second degree under RCW 9A.36.011 or 9A.36.021.” RCW 26.50.110(4). The court held that the language “does not amount to assault in the first or second degree” is not an essential element of the crime, but serves to explain that all assaults in violation of a no-contact order will be penalized as felonies. Ward, 148 Wn.2d at 813. The court noted that if the statutory language were interpreted to require the State to disprove assault in the first or second degree, that would not advance the legislative purpose of protecting victims of domestic violence from abuse, or penalizing assaultive violations of no-contact orders more severely. Id.

As applied to child molestation (and child rape) in the second degree, requiring the State to prove the victim was at least 12 years old would result in acquittal if the State could not exclude the possibility that the victim was younger than that at the time of the crime, but specifying the exact date of an incident of child molestation may be impossible for the young victim. The defendant

should not be able to avoid any responsibility because the State cannot disprove that he committed a more serious crime.

In Tinker, the court addressed theft in the third degree, which was defined in the statutory language at that time as, in part, "theft of property or services which (a) does not exceed [\$250] in value." Former RCW 9A.56.050(1). The Supreme Court held that value was not an essential element of that crime. Tinker, 155 Wn.2d at 222. The court summarily rejected a claim that a value ceiling must be charged, saying that such a holding would appear to conflict with abundant case law regarding degrees of the crime as lesser included offenses, "as well as case law rejecting charging requirements that could put a defendant in the 'awkward position' of arguing that his conduct amounted to a higher degree of the crime than that charged." Id. at 224 (citing Ward, 148 Wn.2d at 812-13).

In Leyda, the court addressed the former statutory definition of identity theft in the second degree: identity theft where the goods obtained were less than \$1500 in value or nothing of value was obtained. Former RCW 9.35.020(2)(b).<sup>10</sup> The court held that the value of the goods obtained was not an essential element of the crime that needed to be included in the charging language.

---

<sup>10</sup> This definition applied at the time of the crimes in Leyda (2002) and at the time of the decision in 2006. Leyda, 157 Wn.2d at 341-42 & n.6.

Leyda, 157 Wn.2d at 341-42. The court held that value need only be specified if there is a minimum value threshold. Id.

The legislature did not intend that a defendant avoid prosecution for child rape or child molestation because the child cannot pinpoint whether he or she was 11 or was 12 at the time of the sexual assault; it is a crime in either event. When it amended these statutes in 1994, it stated: "The legislature hereby reaffirms its desire to protect the children of Washington from sexual abuse...." Laws of 1994, ch. 271, § 301.

The "at least twelve years old" clause in RCW 9A.44.086 is there to distinguish child molestation in the second degree from a higher degree crime: if the child was less than 12 years old, the crime committed was child molestation in the first degree. RCW 9A.44.083. The threshold required to establish each degree of this crime is the higher age: for child molestation in the third degree, that the child was under 16; for second degree, under 14; and for first degree, under 12. While in theft crimes it is a minimum value that is the threshold of a greater offense, as to child sex offenses it is a maximum age that is the threshold. Just as in Tinker and Ward, only the threshold that establishes a more serious charged offense is an essential element of that offense.



Thus, the lower age referred to in RCW 9A.44.086 is not an essential element of the crime of child molestation in the second degree. The State is not required to prove that a victim was at least 12 years old at the time of the molestation in order to obtain a conviction, and is not required to allege that fact in the charging document.

- b. If It Is An Essential Element That The Child Victim Was At Least 12 Years Old, The Charging Language Sufficiently Alleged That Fact.

In the alternative, even if it is an essential element of child molestation in the second degree that the child was at least 12 years old, the charging language in the case at bar adequately alleged that fact by including E.F.'s date of birth, which established that she was at least 12 years old during the charging period. Because Goss has not alleged any actual prejudice due to any inartfulness in the allegation, this claim fails under the liberal standard of review adopted in Kjorsvik, supra.

Under the first prong of the Kjorsvik test, there must be "some language in the document giving at least some indication of the missing element." City of Auburn v. Brooke, 119 Wn.2d 623, 636, 836 P.2d 212 (1992); State v. Pineda-Pineda, 154 Wn. App.

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